IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBIN LEE ARCHER,

Appellant,

vs.

FSC Case No. SC04-451 LT Case No. 1991 CF 000606A

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARA K. DYEHOUSE, ESQUIRE FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 3011 RICHVIEW PARK CIRCLE TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301 (850) 907-9559

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, ROBIN LEE ARCHER, was the defendant in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "Appellant" or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the petitioner in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "the State." At Archer's evidentiary hearing, the trial court agreed to take judicial notice of the trial, resentencing, and post-conviction records of Patrick Bonifay. (PC-A VII 990-93). Thus, the following conventions will be used to reference the various records in these cases:

Archer's trial record -- (TR-A [vol. #] [page #]).

Bonifay's trial record -- (TR-B [vol. #] [page #]).

Archer's resentencing record -- (RS-A [vol. #] [page #]).

Bonifay's resentencing record -- (RS-B [vol. #] [page #]).

Archer's post-conviction record -- (PC-A [vol. #] [page #]).

Bonifay's post-conviction record -- (PC-B [vol. #] [page #]).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. The crimes

On January 27, 1991, at 12:09 a.m., Deputy Carl Chapman of the Escambia County Sheriff's Office was dispatched to Trout (TR-A I 103-Auto Parts at 5590 North W Street in Pensacola. 04). Deputy Chapman found the side door of the business ajar and the clerk, Billy Coker, lying dead behind the counter. A I 104). Crime scene technicians later found the front door to the business securely locked. They also found evidence of a robbery. (TR-A I 107-17). A security camera aimed at the front counter and drive-up window recorded two masked individuals, one of whom was Caucasian, enter the store through the drive-up window, cut the locks on the night deposit box, and leave four minutes later. (TR-A II 247-50). It did not record the shooting of the clerk, however, because the security equipment intermittently switched to a second camera in the warehouse. (TR-A II 249). An autopsy of the victim revealed four gunshot wounds: two to the left side of the head, one to the back below the scapula, and one to the chest. (TR-A II 231-32).

B. The investigation

A few days after the robbery/murder, Escambia County Sheriff's Investigator Thomas O'Neal focused on Kelly Bland as a suspect. (PCR-A VIII 1167). Investigator O'Neal testified at Archer's post-conviction evidentiary hearing that Bland was given use immunity by the State Attorney's Office in exchange for information about the Trout case. (PCR-A VIII 1167-68). In a statement recorded by O'Neal, Bland admitted supplying Patrick Bonifay with the gun used to kill Billy Coker. (PCR-A VIII 1167-68). Bland also admitted to committing a burglary, along with Bonifay, Clifford Barth, Eric White, and George Wynn, four weeks prior to the Trout robbery/murder, at a business called All Pro Sound, which was 1.5 miles from the Trout Auto Parts store. (PCR-A VII 1136-39; VIII 1167-68).

While in jail on the Trout case, Patrick Bonifay, who was 17 years old at the time, also gave a recorded statement regarding the All Pro Sound case, wherein he revealed that Wynn waited in Barth's truck at the back door to the business while Bonifay, White, and Bland broke the glass in the front door, entered the business, and stole \$17,730 worth of equipment. Bonifay's stepfather, who worked at the business, had given Bonifay the alarm code to facilitate the burglary. (PCR-A VIII 1143-44). Bonifay, Barth, White, and Wynn, but not Bland, were all

arrested and charged with the All Pro Sound burglary and grand theft. (PCR-A VIII 1141).

Bonifay was convicted and sentenced in the All Pro Sound case on the day of his <u>Spencer</u> hearing in the Trout case, well after his testimony in Archer's trial. (PCR-A VIII 1164). Barth pled no contest on June 11, 1991, prior to his testimony in Archer's trial. (PCR-A VIII 1165). Wynn's prosecution was deferred by agreement until October 9, 1992, well after his testimony in Archer's trial. (PCR-A VIII 1164).

Archer's prosecutor, Michael Patterson, who also prosecuted Bonifay, Barth, and Fordham in the Trout case, could not recall at Archer's evidentiary hearing whether he knew about these witnesses' involvement in the All Pro Sound case and, if so, whether he provided such information to Archer's trial attorney. (PCR-A VII 1103-05, 1108, 1112). Likewise, Investigator Sanderson could not recall providing his reports in the All Pro State Attorney's Office, nor could Sound case to the Investigator O'Neal recall telling the prosecution about the All Pro Sound case, since, in his opinion, there was nothing in Bland's statement relevant to the Trout case. (PCR-A VIII 1163, 1170, 1172). As a result, Archer's trial counsel, Brian Lang, was unaware of these witnesses' involvement in this burglary, or

their pending or resolved prosecutions, at the time they testified against Archer in the Trout case. (PCR-A VII 1030).

Patrick Bonifay also confessed his involvement in the Trout robbery/murder to the police. In the recorded version of his statement, Bonifay alleged that Archer wanted him to "do a hit on a person." (TR-B II 231). Specifically, Archer wanted him to kill the clerk who was working at Trout on Friday night because the clerk had gotten Archer fired. According to Bonifay, Archer first told him to ask the clerk for a clutch for a 1985 Nissan, so the clerk would have to go into the warehouse to get the part. Meanwhile, Bonifay was supposed to crawl

Similarly, Mr. Lang could not recall at Archer's evidentiary hearing whether he was aware of Bonifay's prior arrest and pending prosecution for a burglary and aggravated battery in Mississippi. (PCR-A VII 1037). The prosecutor also could not recall whether he investigated the Mississippi case and obtained records in relation thereto. (PCR-A VII 1092). However, he used the Mississippi arrest to impeach Bonifay in his penalty phase, which occurred immediately after Archer's guilt phase, to show that Bonifay was capable of committing crimes without Archer's involvement. (PCR-A VII 1092-93; TR-B III 432-34).

through the drive-thru window and when the clerk returned he was supposed to "shoot the clerk in the head." Bonifay could then cut the locks off the night deposit box, steal the money to make it look like a robbery, and exit through the back door where someone would be waiting with a car. After providing this information, however, Archer "changed his mind" and told Bonifay to "walk up there and shoot him and kill him." (TA-B II 231-33).

Based on this alleged "plan," Bonifay enlisted the aid of Eddie Fordham and Cliff Barth, all of whom went to the Trout store on Friday night in Fordham's Mustang. Once at the store, Bonifay walked up to the drive-through window, but "couldn't do it," so they left. The next morning, Archer allegedly berated Bonifay for backing out. Archer told Bonifay that the clerk would be there that night and that Bonifay should go back and do the job. In exchange, Bonifay was expecting "a lot of money. Enough money to where [he] wouldn't have to worry about anything else anymore." (TA-B II 234-35).

As directed, Bonifay, Barth, and Fordham went back to the Trout store on Saturday night around 11:45 p.m. in Fordham's father's S-10 Blazer. Bonifay walked up to the window, but the clerk saw him before he could put on his ski mask, so Bonifay pulled out the gun he had gotten from Kelly Bland and aimed it

at the clerk, who had turned to answer the phone. At that point, Barth grabbed Bonifay's shoulder, and the gun "went off." The clerk fell, and Barth yelled, "You didn't kill him. You didn't kill him." According to Bonifay, Barth then grabbed the gun and shot the clerk once. (TR-B II 235-36).

After donning ski masks, Bonifay and Barth crawled through the window. The clerk was talking about his kids. Barth was not strong enough to cut the locks off the night deposit box, so Bonifay handed Barth the gun and cut the locks off with a pair of bolt cutters Bonifay had gotten from Kelly Bland. Then Bonifay took the gun back and started to leave when Barth said, "Patrick, kill him." Because the clerk had seen his face and now knew his name, Bonifay decided that he had to kill the clerk, so he shot him twice in the head, and he and Barth left through the back door as planned. In the car, Bonifay stuck his gun in Barth's face, angry that Barth had said his name and forced him to kill the clerk. (TA-B II 236-37).

From the store, the three drove to an undescribed location and counted the money. Bonifay and Barth each received \$700, while Fordham received \$663. On the way to take Barth home,

 $^{^{2}}$ Barth has consistently denied shooting the clerk. (TR-B II 285; TR-A II 207-08).

they threw the checks in a ditch full of water. Bonifay and Fordham then drove to Fordham's home and went to sleep. Bonifay later gave the gun back to Bland and told him to get rid of it because he had used it in the robbery/murder at Trout. Archer came over to Bonifay's a few days later, laughing because Bonifay had killed the wrong clerk. Archer refused to pay him any money because of it. Bonifay was going to "jump on him," but decided not to "because of what might happen." At the end of his recorded statement, Bonifay asked Investigator O'Neal to "make sure [his] family [was] protected . . . and [his] girlfriend," implying that he was afraid of Archer. (TR-B II 238, 241-42, 244).

Archer was immediately arrested, but gave no statement to the police. On February 26, 1991, he was indicted, along with Bonifay, Barth, and Fordham, for the murder and armed robbery of Billy Coker, and the grand theft of the money from the Trout store.³ (TR-A IV 489-90).

 $^{^{3}}$ On August 28, 1991, Larry Fordham was convicted by a jury of first-degree murder, armed robbery, and grand theft. He was

<u>C.</u> The trials

later sentenced to life imprisonment, a concurrent 75 years in prison, and a concurrent five years in prison. (PC-A VII 1000-01). On August 29, 1991, Clifford Barth pled guilty to his involvement in the robbery/murder in exchange for the State not seeking the death penalty, and he later received a life sentence. (PC-A VII 980, 983).

In mid-July 1991, two juries were selected from the same venire, one for Bonifay's trial, which was to be held first, and one for Archer's, which was to immediately follow Bonifay's. (TR-A Supp. 582-670; I 19-64). At Bonifay's ensuing trial, the State's theory was that Bonifay devised a plan to rob Trout Auto Parts. Archer assisted in the planning, which included the death of the clerk, because Archer harbored animosity against Dan Wells, whom he thought contributed to his firing from Trout 10 months prior. (TR-B I 123-32). To support its theory of prosecution, the State offered the following testimony: (1) Dan Wells, the clerk on duty at Trout on Friday night, related an unnerving encounter with a customer just prior to closing time. (TR-B I 185-90). He also testified that there was "ill-will" between himself and Archer. (TR-B I 192); (2) Jennifer Morris Tatum, who was Kelly Bland's girlfriend, testified that Bonifay

⁴ Bonifay's defense, on the other hand, was that he was merely carrying out the instructions of Archer. Archer was older, had significant influence over Bonifay, and had threatened Bonifay's family if he did not go through with the plan. In closing argument, Bonifay's attorney likened Archer to Saddam Hussein (America was in the midst of the Persian Gulf War) and alleged that Archer "sent these kids out to fight the war with threats[:] if you don't go out and kill these faceless Americans your family is in jeopardy." (TR-B 133-35, 330-31).

 $^{^{5}}$ Wells believed that he was instrumental in getting Archer fired from Trout. (TR-B I 194). However, Timothy Eaton, Trout's general manager, testified that Dan Wells was not involved in the firing of Archer. (TR-B I 184).

came by several days prior to the robbery/murder asking Bland where the qun was. Bonifay later confessed to her his involvement in the robbery/murder. (TR-B II 200-03); (3) Kelly Bland testified that Bonifay asked him for a gun to "go shoot it." Bland took a gun by Bonifay's house, but Bonifay was not home, so Bland gave it to Archer to give to Bonifay. Bonifay returned the gun to him after the robbery/murder and told Bland to get rid of it and why. (TR-B II 208-13); (4) Investigator O'Neal played Bonifay's taped statement for the jury. (TR-B II 231-44); and (5) Clifford Barth testified that Bonifay called him on the Thursday prior to the crime and said he wanted to rob the Trout store, that they could get as much as \$20,000. plan was to get the clerk to go into the back room, then they would go inside and Bonifay would hold the gun on the clerk while Barth got the money. According to Barth, they were not going to shoot the clerk unless they had to. Barth then described both their aborted attempt on Friday night and their commission of the crime on Saturday night. (TR-B II 266-80).

 $^{^{6}}$ Bonifay told Tatum that they went there to rob the store, but the clerk saw his face and they had to kill him. (TR-B II 203).

⁷ According to Barth, Bonifay never attributed the plan to Archer. Rather, Bonifay said that Archer told him where everything was in the store, but Bonifay "didn't say that [Archer] set it up or nothing." (TR-B II 285).

In his closing argument to Bonifay's jury, the prosecutor asserted that "[t]he threats against Mr. Bonifay . . . is [sic] a story that this man made up, one of many stories this man made up in an effort to avoid responsibility for what he knew he did." (TR-B II 337). Patterson further argued that "Mr. Bonifay planned to rob Trout Auto Parts. He enlisted the help of Mr. Barth. He enlisted the help of Mr. Fordham. He did it with the help and aid of Mr. Archer. . . . You should convict the defendant now based on the evidence that . . . establishes beyond any possible doubt . . . that he intentionally killed Mr. Coker, that he robbed Trout Auto Parts and that he stole the money." (TR-B II 342-43, 344).

Within hours of the State's closing argument in Bonifay's case, Archer's trial began. Naturally, the State's focus shifted to make Archer at least an equally, if not more, culpable co-defendant. Thus, his theory, as presented to the jury, was that Archer was a principal in the robbery/murder: Archer and Bonifay planned it together, there was ill-will

⁸ The judge sealed the verdicts rendered by Bonifay's jury so as not to prejudice Archer's jury. (TR-B II 373-76). Thus, none of the parties knew whether the jury had found Bonifay guilty.

⁹ Patterson admittedly wanted to establish the CCP aggravating factor, which required proof of heightened premeditation. (PCR-A VII 1075).

between Archer and Dan Wells, the intended victim, and Archer's benefit in participating was "revenge." (TR-A I 83-84).

To support this theory, the prosecutor called Patrick Bonifay as a witness. For the first time, Bonifay testified that Archer came to his house the Thursday before robbery/murder and showed him a "briefcase full of money." 10 Archer told Bonifay he wanted him to "do a job," i.e., murder the clerk working at Trout on Friday night. (TR-A I 126). Archer wanted the clerk killed because, according to Bonifay, "[t]he man got him fired and messed up something, and [Archer] had hated him ever since." (TR-A I 129). In order to make it look like a robbery, instead of a murder, Archer allegedly told Bonifay to ask the clerk for a Nissan clutch assembly so he would have to go into the warehouse to get it. Bonifay could then climb in the drive-thru window, unlock the front door to let in his accomplice, and shoot the clerk when he returned. Archer warned him that the store had security cameras. (TR-A I 126-28).

Bonifay claimed that he had told Investigator O'Neal about the briefcase of money; it was simply not on the taped version of his statement. (TR-A I 144). Investigator O'Neal denied that Bonifay ever mentioned it. (TR-A II 251).

Bonifay testified that he had been in the Trout store once or twice before, but did not know where they kept their money. Nor did he know that the other Trout stores in town deposited their daily proceeds in a locked box on the wall of the W Street store. (TR-A I 128). Bonifay also testified that he asked Kelly Bland to find him a handgun, which Kelly did and gave to Archer, who in turn gave it to Bonifay. (TR-A I 128).

Regarding the aborted attempt to rob the store on Friday night, Bonifay's testimony mirrored his pre-trial statement to the police. (TR-A I 129). Bonifay likewise testified that when Archer came to Bonifay's house on Saturday, Archer began yelling at him for backing out. He then testified, admittedly for the first time, that he told Archer he would not kill for money, at

¹¹ Both Robin Archer and his cousin, Richard, testified that they were at another Trout location with Bonifay when Bonifay asked what the locked, green box was on the wall. Robin and Richard told Bonifay that the stores deposit their proceeds in these boxes overnight. (TR-A II 354-55). Rodney Archer, who worked at the W Street Trout store in 1990, also testified that the function of the green box on the wall was no secret. Customers asked about it all the time. (TR-A II 268-69, 348).

¹² Bland did not testify at Archer's trial. Moreover, Investigator O'Neal testified that Bland did not mention in his taped statement that he gave the gun to Archer. (TR-A II 222). Nor did Clifford Barth mention in his taped statement that they got the gun from Archer. (TR-A II 253). However, Barth testified at Archer's trial that on Friday night he and Bonifay and Fordham drove to where Archer was staying. Archer came outside, and he and Bonifay went to Archer's truck. Bonifay returned with a gun. (TR-A II 204).

which point Archer threatened the lives of Bonifay's mother and girlfriend if he did not complete the job. (TR-A I 130, 162).

Allegedly because of the threat, Bonifay called Barth and Fordham, and the three returned to the Trout store on Saturday night. Bonifay's testimony regarding the robbery and murder essentially mirrored his pre-trial statement to the police. (TR-A I 130-35). On cross-examination, however, Bonifay insisted that he did not want to kill the clerk, even though that was his alleged purpose for being there. He did so, he said, because he was afraid of Archer--his "gun, his associates"--particularly after Archer had threatened his family. (TR-A I 146, 148, 149, 154, 163).

Archer's attorney cross-examined Bonifay about the briefcase full of money, which Bonifay described as a briefcase of \$50 bills, totaling \$500,000. Bonifay conceded, however, that Archer had not worked in almost a year, that his girlfriend was supporting him, and that he was staying with different people because he had no money for an apartment. (TR-A I 137-40).

¹³ On redirect, the prosecutor was allowed to elicit over objection that Bonifay believed Archer had another source of

income sufficient to generate a significant amount of cash. (TR-A I 166). The inference was clear that Archer sold marijuana to support himself, and thus had money to pay Bonifay to kill the clerk at Trout.

Following Bonifay's testimony, the General Manager for Trout Auto Parts testified that he fired Archer in March 1990 and that Dan Wells, who was Archer's alleged intended victim, had nothing to do with getting him fired. (TR-A I 174-75). Wells, who was the clerk on duty at Trout on Friday night, testified that he felt somewhat responsible for getting Archer fired from Trout, and that although Archer had never threatened him, he felt threatened by Archer. (TR-A I 182-85).

George Wynn testified that Bonifay called him on Friday night and asked him to drive them to Trout, so they could rob the store. Bonifay told him that "it might involve killing somebody." Bonifay also said that Archer "asked him to do that and he wanted one person killed" because "he had problems with him at work." Bonifay claimed that Archer had told him that there would be one person in the store, the doors would be locked, and they would have to go in through the window. Wynn declined to be the getaway driver and tried to talk Bonifay out of it. (TR-A I 192-93). On Sunday, Bonifay called and described the robbery/murder in detail. He did not say that Barth shot the clerk, nor did he ever mention the \$500,000 that Archer had offered him. (TR-A I 194-96).

Next, Clifford Barth, who was 17 years old at the time of the crime, testified that Bonifay called him on Thursday and

asked him to help rob the Trout Auto Parts store on W Street. Bonifay never told him the reason they were going was to shoot the clerk. Rather, Bonifay told him that Archer used to work for Trout and had told him where Trout kept the money that the other stores deposit there. Barth then recounted their trip to see Wynn, their trip to obtain a gun from Archer, and their aborted attempt to rob the store on Friday night. On Saturday, Bonifay called Barth again and said he wanted do it that night, "because Archer said it would be a good day to do it." Barth recounted the details of the robbery and murder, but denied ever shooting the clerk. (TR-A 202-11).

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