### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBIN LEE ARCHER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

CASE NO. SC04-451

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

ISSUE I
SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S REJECTION OF ARCHER'S NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE CLAIM
ISSUE II
JUDGE JONES CORRECTLY REJECTED ARCHER'S CLAIM THAT THE STATE KNOWINGLY PRESENTED FALSE TESTIMONY60
ISSUE III
JUDGE JONES CORRECTLY REJECTED ARCHER'S CLAIM THAT THE STATE SUPPRESSED MATERIAL EVIDENCE64
CONCLUSION71
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE71
CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Archer v. State,
613 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1993)
Archer v. State,
673 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1996)
Armstrong v. State,
642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994)
Agorr v. Choho
<u>Asay v. State</u> , 769 So.2d 964 (Fla. 2000)
Bonifay v. State,
626 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1993)
Bonifay v. State,
680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996)
Brady v. Maryland,
373 U.S. 83 (1973)64
Buenoano v. State,
708 So.2d 941 (Fla. 1998)54
Fordham v. State,
619 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1 <sup>st</sup> DCA 1993)
Giglio v. United States,
405 U.S. 150 (1972)61
Gorby v. State,
819 So.2d 664 (Fla. 2002)
Johnson v. State,
769 So.2d 990 (Fla. 2000)
Johnson v. State,
30 Fla.L.Weekly S207 (Fla. March 31, 2005)65
Jones v. State,
709 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1998)

<u>Maharaj v. State, </u>
778 So.2d 944 (Fla. 2000)
Occhicone v. State,
768 So.2d 1037 (Fla. 2000)64
Overton v. Texas,
<u>Overton v. Texas</u> , 450 F.2d 919 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1971)61
Roper v. Simmons,
125 S.Ct. 1183 (2005)
Stewart v. State,
801 So.2d 59 (Fla. 2001)65
U.S. v. Griley,
<u>U.S. v. Griley</u> , 814 F.2d 967 (4 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987)61
U.S. v. Meros,
<u>U.S. v. Meros</u> , 866 F.2d 1304 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989)66
Ventura v. State,
794 So.2d 553 (Fla. 2001)
Williamson v. Dugger,
651 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1994)54
Williamson v. Moore, 221 F 3d 1177 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000)
221 F 3d 1177 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir 2000)

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ABOUT THE RECORD

Archer and two co-defendants - James Patrick Bonifay and Larry Fordham - were prosecuted in separate trials for the murder of Billy Coker during the robbery of Trout Auto Parts. Archer and Bonifay were sentenced to death, while sentenced life. Fordham was to During Archer's postconviction evidentiary hearing, the trial court granted the motion of both parties that judicial notice be taken of Archer's original trial transcript and his resentencing transcript; of Bonifay's original trial transcript, his resentencing transcript, and the transcript postconviction evidentiary hearing; and of Fordham's trial transcript. The State will cite to Archer's trial (from his original direct appeal record in case no. SC60-78701) as "AT," to his resentencing proceedings (from the record on appeal from his resentencing, case no. SC60-83258) as "ARS," and to the transcript of his postconviction hearing (contained in the record on this appeal) as "R." The State will cite to Bonifay's trial transcript (from the record on appeal in case no. SC60-78724) as "BT."

The State will be relying on the entirety of the various Archer proceedings. The State will cite minimally to the Bonifay proceedings, and, since Archer does not rely on the Fordham trial record, the State will not cite to it.

## PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 26, 1991, Archer, along with James Patrick Bonifay, Larry Fordham and Clifford Barth, were indicted for murder, armed robbery and grand theft. Barth pled guilty. Archer and Bonifay were tried the same week, in separate proceedings, with Bonifay being tried first. Fordham was tried a month later. Archer was represented at trial by Brian Lang. Archer testified on his own behalf at the guilt phase of his trial. Bonifay did not testify at the guilt phase of his trial, but did testify as a State's witness at the guilt phase of Archer's trial. Bonifay and Archer were both found guilty. Bonifay testified at his own sentencing hearing; Archer did not. By a 10-2 vote, jury recommended a death sentence for Bonifay. Archer's sentencing jury recommended death for him, by a 7-5 vote. The trial judge in each case, the Honorable Lacy A. Collier, sentenced both Archer and Bonifay to death. Fordham and Barth were sentenced to life.

Archer and Bonifay appealed to this Court, which affirmed their convictions, but reversed their death sentences and remanded for resentencing. Archer v. State, 613 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1993); Bonifay v. State, 626 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1993). Fordham appealed his conviction to the First

District Court of Appeals, which summarily affirmed. Fordham v. State, 619 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

The Archer and Bonifay resentencing proceedings were presided over by the Honorable T. Michael Jones. Archer was represented on resentencing by Spiro Kypreos. Juries again recommended death for each defendant, and by the same margins as previously, i.e., for Bonifay by a 10-2 vote, and for Archer by a 7-5 vote. Judge Jones resentenced each defendant to death. This Court affirmed both death sentences on appeal. Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1996); Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996).

Archer and Bonifay each filed postconviction motions attacking their convictions and sentences. Bonifay's motion came on for evidentiary hearing in November of 2001.

Archer's amended motion to vacate, filed on or about February 22, 2000, contained some 20 claims (5R 571-654). Following a <u>Huff</u> hearing, Judge Jones summarily denied relief on numerous claims, while granting an evidentiary hearing on others. An evidentiary hearing was conducted on January 8 and 9, 2002.

Judge Jones received post-hearing written closing arguments from the parties, and thereafter denied relief on

the remaining claims. Archer appeals only from the denial of relief on grounds I, V and VIII.

# STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS

Archer's postconviction claims must be evaluated in light of the evidence presented at his trial and resentencing proceedings. Therefore, the State will summarize the relevant facts of those proceedings and then set forth the evidence presented at Archer's postconviction evidentiary hearing. The State will also briefly discuss relevant portions of Bonifay's trial and original sentencing proceeding.

#### A. BONIFAY'S CONFESSION TO POLICE

Bonifay's confession to Escambia County investigator Thomas L. O'Neal was played to the jury at the guilt phase of Bonifay's trial (BT 254 et seq). Inter alia, Bonifay told police that Robin Archer set the whole thing up, telling him where to go, what to do, and how to do it (BT 264). Archer wanted Bonifay to "do a hit" on a person "that worked at Trout Auto Parts," because "the guy had got [Archer] fired" and had "always been a dick" to him (BT 255, 268). The morning after an aborted Friday night

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These grounds were: (I) the State suppressed exculpatory evidence and presented false testimony from Bonifay at Archer's original trial; (V) newly discovered evidence of innocence; and (VIII) Archer is "innocent of first degree murder."

attempt, Archer "was bitching" at him for failing to kill the man, and told Bonifay the man would be at Trout that evening and to "do it" (BT 258-59). There would be a lot of money in it for Bonifay if he did as he was told (BT 259). After he committed the robbery/murder on Saturday night, Archer "told me that I killed the wrong person and . . . he wasn't going to give me no money or nothing like that" (BT 263).

#### B. ARCHER'S TRIAL EVIDENCE (GUILT PHASE)

Police were dispatched to the Trout Auto Parts on W Street shortly after midnight on January 27, 1991 (1AT 103-04). The front door was locked. A side door was open, and the clerk - Billy Wayne Coker - lay on the floor behind the counter (1AT 105, 107, 111, 119). He had been shot four times (1AT 119-20, 231). A green drop box for cash deposits and night receipts from the other Trout stores in the area had been opened and pieces of the lock lay on the floor (1AT 112). In addition, a metal cabinet containing cash drawers had been opened (1AT 110).

Trout general manager Timothy Eaton testified that all the cash (except for the "base bank") from the other Trout stores would be delivered to the Trout store on W street each evening after the other stores closed (1AT 170). The funds were dropped through a slot into an unmarked

reinforced steel box on the wall, seven feet off the floor (1AT 171). The Trout store on W street also had a petty cash cabinet under the counter (AT 172). The W store was open until midnight, but the front door was locked at 10 p.m. (1AT 172-73). One man remained, selling parts through a window without letting anyone into the store (1AT 173). A time-lapse camera hung from the ceiling, pointed at the main counter (1AT 173). There was another camera in the warehouse in the back (1AT 173). A time-lapse recorder would switch from one camera to the other every 10-12 seconds (1AT 173-74). Eaton testified that Archer had worked for Trout from November 1989 through March of 1990, and was then "terminated" (1AT 174). He was working at the W Street store as co-manager when he was fired (1AT 175). Daniel Wells had nothing to do with Archer being fired, but to Eaton's knowledge Archer was never told that (1AT 175-76).2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Archer notes (Initial Brief at 9, fn. 5) that Eaton had testified at Bonifay's trial that Wells was not involved in Archer's firing (1BT 184). That testimony was not inconsistent with the testimony presented at Archer's trial (see above). Furthermore, it is not inconsistent with Wells' testimony that Archer believed that Wells had some responsibility for that firing. Eaton testified Bonifay's trial that Wells was Archer's "superior" even though he was not in charge of personnel (1BT 184). Wells testified at Bonifay's trial that he was acting co-manager of the W Street store when Archer had been fired, and that "ill will" existed between the two (1BT 192). Furthermore,

James Patrick Bonifay testified that Archer came by his house one day, showed him a briefcase full of money and told him he wanted Bonifay to murder a person who would be working at Trout Friday night (1AT 126). Archer told him the "man had got him fired," and he had hated him ever since (1AT 129). He told Bonifay to take the money out of the store to make it look like a robbery rather than a hit (1AT 126). Bonifay could do what he wanted with the store money (1AT 126-27). Archer told him to go to the window and ask for a Nissan clutch; the clerk would have to go in the back room to get it, and Bonifay and his companion could come in the window and shoot the clerk when he returned (1AT 127). Bonifay testified that Archer told him to do it just before midnight, because no one would be there and only the window chute would be open (1AT 128). Archer warned Bonifay that there would be a security camera (1AT 128). Ultimately, Bonifay got the gun from Archer, who had obtained it from Kelly Bland (AT 128-9).

Wells had informed "higher-ups" in the company that Archer had a bad attitude towards customers and often failed to show up for assigned work; Wells also thought he was selling drugs (1BT 194-95). Thus, Wells clearly was justified in believing that he was "instrumental" in getting Archer fired, even if he had not actually participated in the decision. Likewise reasonable is the State's theory that Archer blamed Wells for his being fired.

Bonifay testified that Eddie Fordham drove them to Trout Friday night; Bonifay got out and walked up to the window; he asked the clerk for the part; the clerk said we don't have it, and Bonifay walked away (1AT 129). Bonifay testified that he "couldn't do it" (1AT 129). The next day Archer confronted him about not doing the job, and threatened to harm Bonifay's mother and girlfriend (1AT 130).

Bonifay testified that he called Clifford Barth and Fordham and, without saying anything about a threat, told them they had to try again (1AT 130). They had to buy more bullets, as Fordham had fired the only bullet in the gun (1AT 130-31). Bonifay testified that they returned Saturday night, and that he had decided to put on his ski mask and just rob the clerk, but the clerk turned around and saw his face, plus Barth grabbed his arm, and so Bonifay shot the clerk (1AT 131). Barth hollered "you didn't kill him," took the gun, and shot the clerk a second time (1AT 132). Bonifay donned his ski mask, got the gun back, and he and Barth climbed through the window (1AT 132). Bonifay heard something about kids, and just told the clerk to be quiet (1AT 132). Barth wasn't strong enough to cut the locks, so Bonifay took the bolt cutters, cut the two locks off the box on the wall, grabbed the

money, and threw them into a backpack (1AT 132). He wanted to go then, but Barth said, "Patrick, kill him" (1AT 132). Now the clerk had seen his face and heard his name, so he put the gun to the clerk's head and pulled the trigger twice (1AT 133). As instructed by Archer, Bonifay and Barth went around the counter, down the side wall, through a door, took a quick left, and went out another door which put them on the side of the store where no one would see them (1AT 133-34). Fordham waited for them on that side of the building (1AT 133).

They left, disposing of the checks, ski masks, and bolt cutters at some distance from Trout (1AT 134-35). Bonifay returned the gun and backpack to Kelly Bland (1AT 136).

The next day, Archer laughed at Bonifay, telling him he had killed the wrong man (1AT 135).

On cross-examination, Bonifay clarified that the clerk had "something to do" with getting Archer fired (1AT 136).

Bonifay acknowledged that Archer had been fired perhaps a year before the murder (1AT 137, 139). He acknowledged that Archer had not worked in a year, and had stayed with Bonifay's mother and then with Webber and Rick Archer because he had no place to stay of his own (1AT 138).

Nevertheless, he insisted that Archer had shown him a

briefcase full of money (1AT 138-39). He testified that Archer had claimed it was \$500,000, but he knew "there was no way" (1AT 139). Although Archer had no job at this time, his girlfriend did not have to support him (1AT 140).

Bonifay denied seeing the green box in a previous visit to the Trout store on W street (1AT 141-42). denied having shot the victim the second time (1AT 143). He admitted there was no reference to a briefcase full of money in his original statement to police, but claimed he had orally told police about it (1AT 144-45). He admitted shooting the clerk in the back when the clerk turned around in response to the phone ringing (AT 145). The fact that the clerk had seen his face was "kind of" the reason he had shot him (1AT 146). He had decided not to shoot him again, until Barth said his name (1AT 146). He denied that the victim was begging for his life and for his children; all he heard was the word "kids" (1AT 146-47). He denied telling anyone that he had shot the victim while he was begging for his life and his children (1AT 147). When Barth called his name, he felt he had to kill the victim; also, he was scared of Archer (1AT 147-49).

Bonifay denied having cocked his gun in the aborted attempt Friday night (1AT 152). He did not know who the clerk was Friday night, and denied knowing that a different

man was there Saturday (1AT 152-53). He did not think he would get any of the briefcase full of money after failing to do the job Friday night; he went back the next night only because he was afraid of Archer (1AT 154-55).

Asked again about his statement to police, Bonifay admitted that, while he had told police he had committed murder at Archer's direction, he had not mentioned any threat (1AT 161-62). He denied having to ask the victim where the money was, and claimed he had told Fordham, Barth and Bland that he planned to kill the man (1AT 163).

On redirect, Bonifay testified that he was not afraid of Archer, but was afraid of his gun and his associates (1AT 164). He testified that, although Archer did not have a job, he had a source of income other than from work that generated a significant amount of cash (1AT 166). Bonifay did not own a 1985 Nissan, but Archer did (1AT 166). Archer gave him a piece of paper with 85 Nissan clutch written on it, to remind Bonifay what part to ask for (1AT 167). Before the murder happened, Bonifay had told people that Archer had helped him plan the robbery at Trout (1AT 168).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bonifay testified at his own penalty phase proceedings that there were a "bunch of drug dealers working at Trout and they were all laundering their money through the business"; because Archer was fired, "he hated the guy" who had "messed up the whole operation" (3BT 422).

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